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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
 

FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share data)
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

June 30,
2005

 
      (unaudited) 

Assets          

Current assets          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 25,704  $ 23,103 
Accounts receivable          

Billed receivables    89,536   99,741 
Unbilled receivables    30,663   47,848 
Allowance for doubtful accounts and unbilled services    (16,693)  (15,384)

    
    103,506   132,205 

Notes receivable    9,031   3,134 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    6,041   7,252 
Deferred income taxes    6,287   5,882 

    
Total current assets    150,569   171,576 

Property and equipment, net    23,342   27,027 
Goodwill    507,656   566,480 
Other intangible assets, net    10,978   26,220 
Other assets    15,980   16,116 
    

Total assets   $ 708,525  $ 807,419 

    
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity          

Current liabilities          
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other   $ 20,771  $ 15,464 
Accrued compensation    39,383   42,735 
Current portion of long-term debt    21,250   35,625 
Billings in excess of services provided    8,924   12,786 

    
Total current liabilities    90,328   106,610 

Long-term debt, net of current portion    83,750   106,875 
Deferred rent, capital lease obligations and other, net of current portion    12,745   13,079 
Deferred income taxes    25,548   32,472 
Commitments and contingent liabilities (notes 3, 4, 5 and 9)          

Stockholders’ equity          
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; none outstanding    —     —   
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 75,000 shares authorized; 42,487 shares issued and outstanding—2004; and 43,729

shares issued and outstanding—2005    425   437 
Additional paid-in capital    333,735   358,405 
Unearned compensation    (8,551)  (7,868)
Retained earnings    170,545   197,409 

    
Total stockholders’ equity    496,154   548,383 

    
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 708,525  $ 807,419 

    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Unaudited
 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2004

  

2005

 
Revenues   $107,445  $123,917  $217,685  $240,531 
      
Operating expenses                  

Direct cost of revenues    58,357   65,192   120,255   129,537 
Selling, general and administrative expense    24,792   29,290   50,518   57,443 
Amortization of other intangible assets    1,255   1,608   2,976   2,357 

      
    84,404   96,090   173,749   189,337 
      
Operating income    23,041   27,827   43,936   51,194 
      
Other income (expense)                  

Interest income    189   197   386   364 
Interest expense and other    (1,585)  (2,507)  (3,189)  (4,229)
Litigation settlement losses, net    —     (708)  —     (1,012)

      
    (1,396)  (3,018)  (2,803)  (4,877)
      
Income before income tax provision    21,645   24,809   41,133   46,317 
Income tax provision    8,852   10,420   16,823   19,453 
      
Net income   $ 12,793  $ 14,389  $ 24,310  $ 26,864 

      
Earnings per common share—basic   $ 0.30  $ 0.34  $ 0.58  $ 0.63 

      
Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.30  $ 0.33  $ 0.57  $ 0.62 

      
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands)
Unaudited

 

  

Common Stock

  
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

 

 Unearned
Compensation

 

 Retained
Earnings

 
Total

   

Shares

  

Amount

     
Balance, January 1, 2005  42,487  $ 425  $ 333,735  $ (8,551) $ 170,545 $ 496,154 
Issuance of common stock in connection with:                       

Exercise of options, including income tax benefit of $118  152   1   2,752          2,753 
Employee stock purchase plan  110   1   1,535          1,536 
Restricted share grants  10   —     223   (223)     —   
Business combinations  1,363   14   27,863          27,877 

Purchase and retirement of common stock  (393)  (4)  (7,703)         (7,707)
Amortization of unearned compensation              906      906 
Net income                  26,864  26,864 
       
Balance, June 30, 2005  43,729  $ 437  $ 358,405  $ (7,868) $ 197,409 $ 548,383 

       
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Unaudited

 

   

Six Months Ended
June 30,

 

   

2004

  

2005

 
Operating activities          

Net income   $ 24,310  $ 26,864 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:          

Depreciation and other amortization    4,351   5,312 
Amortization of other intangible assets    2,976   2,357 
Provision for doubtful accounts    2,554   792 
Non-cash stock-based compensation    629   906 
Income tax benefit from stock option exercises    1,882   118 
Non-cash interest expense and other non-cash charges    761   1,534 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:          

Accounts receivable, billed and unbilled    (25,967)  (25,022)
Prepaid expenses and other assets    (3,797)  61 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other    1,428   96 
Income taxes payable    (479)  2,841 
Accrued compensation    (392)  689 
Billings in excess of services provided    (7,753)  (574)

    
Net cash provided by operating activities    503   15,974 

    
Investing activities          

Purchases of property and equipment    (4,099)  (8,992)
Payments for acquisition of businesses, including contingent payments and acquisition costs, net of cash received    (923)  (46,651)
Proceeds from note receivable due from purchasers of former subsidiary    —     5,525 
Change in other assets    603   (65)

    
Net cash used in investing activities    (4,419)  (50,183)

    
Financing activities          

Issuance of common stock under equity compensation plans    2,473   2,635 
Purchase and retirement of common stock    (4,354)  (7,707)
Borrowings under long-term credit facility    —     50,000 
Payments of long-term debt    (7,500)  (12,500)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit    32,000   33,500 
Payments of revolving line of credit    (21,000)  (33,500)
Payments of debt financing fees    —     (686)
Payments of capital lease obligations and other    (360)  (134)

    
Net cash provided by financing activities    1,259   31,608 

    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (2,657)  (2,601)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    5,765   25,704 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 3,108  $ 23,103 

    
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
1. Basis of Presentation
 Our unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and
under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission for interim financial information. Some of the information and footnote disclosures
normally included in annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to those rules or regulations. In management’s opinion, the interim
financial statements reflect all adjustments that are necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods presented. All adjustments made were
normal recurring accruals. You should not expect the results of operations for interim periods to necessarily be an indication of the results for a full year. You
should read these financial statements in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes contained in our annual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004.
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 Earnings per Common Share
 Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per common share adjusts basic earnings per share for the potentially dilutive effects of shares issuable under our stock option plans, including
restricted shares using the treasury stock method.
 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

   

2004

  

2005

  

2004

  

2005

Numerator—basic and diluted                 
Net income   $12,793  $14,389  $24,310  $ 26,864

         
Denominator                 

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding—basic    42,172   42,808   42,135   42,565

Effect of dilutive stock options    341   515   423   468
Effect of dilutive restricted shares    4   3   3   2

         
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding—diluted    42,517   43,326   42,561   43,035

         
Earnings per common share—basic   $ 0.30  $ 0.34  $ 0.58  $ 0.63

         
Earnings per common share—diluted   $ 0.30  $ 0.33  $ 0.57  $ 0.62

         
Antidilutive stock options and restricted shares    3,338   2,702   3,242   2,686

         
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 We record compensation expense for stock-based compensation for employees and non-employee members of our board of directors using the intrinsic
value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Under APB Opinion No. 25,
compensation expense is recorded over the vesting period to the extent that the fair value of the underlying stock on the grant date exceeds the exercise or
acquisition price of the stock or stock-based award.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
All options granted under our stock-based employee compensation plans had an exercise price greater than or equal to the market value of the underlying

common stock on the date of grant. We also periodically issue restricted and unrestricted stock to employees in connection with new hires and performance
evaluations. The fair market value on the date of issue of unrestricted stock is immediately charged to compensation expense, and the fair value on the date of
issue of restricted stock is charged to compensation expense ratably over the restriction period.
 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” encourages companies to recognize expense for
stock-based awards based on their estimated fair value on the date of grant. Statement No. 123 requires the disclosure of pro forma income and earnings per share
data in the notes to the financial statements if the fair value method is not adopted. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share
if we had determined compensation costs by applying the fair value recognition provisions of Statement No. 123 to stock-based employee awards.
 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2004

  

2005

 
Net income, as reported   $12,793  $14,389  $24,310  $26,864 

Add—Stock-based employee compensation cost included in reported net income, net of taxes    208   263   372   525 
Deduct—Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under a fair value based

method for all awards, net of taxes    (1,911)  (2,046)  (3,539)  (4,094)
      
Net income, pro forma   $11,090  $12,606  $21,143  $23,295 

      
Earnings per common share                  

Basic, as reported   $ 0.30  $ 0.34  $ 0.58  $ 0.63 

      
Basic, pro forma   $ 0.26  $ 0.29  $ 0.50  $ 0.55 

      
Diluted, as reported   $ 0.30  $ 0.33  $ 0.57  $ 0.62 

      
Diluted, pro forma   $ 0.26  $ 0.29  $ 0.50  $ 0.54 
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model and other models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no vesting

restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price
volatility. Because our stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, we believe the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of our
stock-based awards. The fair value of our stock-based awards was estimated on the measurement date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model along with
the following assumptions.
 

  

Three Months Ended
June 30,

 

Six Months Ended
June 30,

  

2004

 

2005

 

2004

 

2005

Assumptions             
Risk-free interest rate—option plan grants   2.97% – 3.31%  3.63% – 3.70%  1.90% – 3.31%  3.44% – 3.98%
Risk-free interest rate—purchase plan grants   —    —    0.96%   2.55%
Dividend yield   0%   0%   0%   0%
Expected life of option grants   3 years   3 years   3 years   3 years
Expected life of stock purchase plan grants   —    —    0.5 years   0.5 years
Stock price volatility—option plan grants   57.2% – 57.8%  50.3% – 51.0%  54.6% – 59.6%  50.3% – 54.1%
Stock price volatility—purchase plan grants   —    —    56.9%   34.7%

Weighted average fair value of grants             
Stock options:             

Grant price = fair market value  $ 6.89 $ 8.31 $ 6.76 $ 7.95
Grant price > fair market value  $ 6.13 $ 7.45 $ 6.19 $ 7.14

Employee stock purchase plan shares   —    —   $ 7.26 $ 5.46
Restricted shares  $ 15.65 $ 22.34 $ 15.52 $ 22.34
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information.
 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

   

2004

  

2005

  

2004

  

2005

Other non-cash investing and financing activities                 
Issuance of common stock to acquire businesses   $ —    $ 12,899  $—    $27,877

 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
 The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2005, are as follows:
 

Balance as of January 1, 2005   $507,656 
Goodwill acquired during the year    59,165 
Adjustment to allocation of purchase price    (341)

   
Balance as of June 30, 2005   $566,480 
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
Other intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. For intangible assets with finite lives, we recorded amortization

expense of $3.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and $2.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005. Based solely on the amortizable
intangible assets recorded as of June 30, 2005, we estimate amortization expense to be $5.4 million during the remainder of 2005, $6.4 million in 2006, $3.5
million in 2007, $3.3 million in 2008, $2.6 million in 2009, $0.5 million in 2010 and $0.8 million in years after 2010. Actual amortization expense to be reported
in future periods could differ from these estimates as a result of new intangible asset acquisitions, changes in useful lives or other relevant factors. The carrying
amounts of the amortizable assets we acquired in connection with an acquisition completed on May 31, 2005 are based on our estimated valuations, which we
expect to complete during the second half of 2005. The final purchase price allocations may differ from our preliminary estimates. See note 3.
 

      

December 31, 2004

  

June 30, 2005

   

Useful Life
in Years

  

Gross Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

  

Gross Carrying
Amount

  

Accumulated
Amortization

Amortized intangible assets                    
Customer relationships   4 to 15   $ 8,300  $ 1,412  $ 12,630  $ 2,143
Contracts, backlog   1 to 3    491   395   7,761   1,336
Software   5    —     —     4,400   293
Non-compete agreement   3 to 5    2,196   982   2,796   1,315
Intellectual property   3    360   280   360   340

            
       11,347   3,069   27,947   5,427
Unamortized intangible assets                    

Tradename   Indefinite   2,700   —     3,700   —  
            
      $ 14,047  $ 3,069  $ 31,647  $ 5,427

            
 
Significant New Accounting Pronouncements
 As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” we currently account for share-based
payments to employees using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25. As such, we generally do not recognize
compensation cost related to employee stock options. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment,” which is a revision of Statement No. 123. We plan to adopt the standard effective January 1, 2006. We have not yet determined which of
the transition methods we will follow upon adoption of this standard.
 

Statement No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees and directors to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values,
using prescribed option-pricing models. Upon adoption of Statement No. 123(R), pro forma disclosure will no longer be an alternative to financial statement
recognition. Accordingly, the adoption of the fair-value method prescribed by Statement No. 123(R) will have a significant impact on our results of operations,
although it will not have an impact on our overall financial position. The impact of adopting Statement No. 123(R) can not be predicted at this time because it will
depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had we adopted Statement No. 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard
would have approximated the impact of Statement No. 123 as described above under “Stock-Based Compensation.”
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
Statement No. 123(R) also requires the benefit related to income tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing

cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current accounting principles. This requirement will reduce our net operating cash flows and
increase our net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. Had we adopted this statement in prior periods using the valuation method and assumptions
applied in our pro forma disclosures, we would have reduced our net operating cash flows and increased our net financing cash flows by $1.9 million during the
six months ended June 30, 2004 and $0.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2005. When Statement No. 123(R) is adopted we may elect to change our
valuation method or assumptions. Such changes could have an impact on the amount of stock-based compensation we record.
 

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.” This new standard replaces APB Opinion No. 20,
“Accounting Changes” and Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” Among other changes, Statement No. 154
requires that a voluntary change in accounting principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period financial statements presented based on the new
accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. Statement No. 154 also provides that (1) a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived
nonfinancial asset be accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate that was effected by a change in accounting principle, and (2) correction of errors in
previously issued financial statements should be treated as a restatement. We are required to and will adopt the provisions of Statement No. 154 on January 1,
2006. We do not believe that the implementation of this standard will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 
Reclassifications
 Certain amounts in the 2004 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation.
 
3. Acquisitions
 We record assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations on our balance sheet as of the respective acquisition dates based upon their
estimated fair values at the acquisition date. We include the results of operations of businesses acquired in our statement of income beginning on the acquisition
dates. We allocate the acquisition cost to identifiable tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based upon their estimated relative fair values. We allocate the
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed to goodwill. We determine the fair value of
intangible assets acquired based upon independent appraisals. The fair value of shares of our common stock issued in connection with a business combination is
based on a five-day average of the closing price of our common stock two days before and two days after the date we agree to the terms of the acquisition and
publicly announce the transaction. In certain circumstances, the allocations of the excess purchase price are based on preliminary estimates and assumptions.
Accordingly, the allocations are subject to revision when we receive final information, including appraisals and other analyses. Revisions to our preliminary
estimates of fair value may be significant. Since our results of operations were not materially affected by the business combinations consummated in 2005, pro
forma results are not presented.
 
Cambio
 Effective May 31, 2005, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Cambio Health Solutions, based in Nashville,
Tennessee. Cambio provides strategic, operational and turnaround management consulting services to academic medical centers, integrated delivery systems,
stand-alone
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
community hospitals, investor-owned hospitals and special medical facilities. The total acquisition cost was $42.6 million, consisting of net cash of $29.2 million,
transaction costs of $0.5 million and 578,994 shares of our common stock valued at about $12.9 million.
 

The identifiable intangible assets that we acquired consist principally of contract backlog, customer relationships, trade name and noncompetition
agreements. At June 30, 2005, the estimated valuation of these intangible assets, totaling $10.5 million, is based on data we have developed to date. We recorded
$31.4 million of goodwill as a result of the value of the assembled workforce we acquired and the ability to earn a higher rate of return from the acquired business
than would be expected if those net assets had to be acquired or developed separately. In addition, this acquisition enhances our industry expertise in health care
management and finance. We believe the goodwill recorded as a result of this acquisition will be fully deductible for income tax purposes over the next 15 years.
 
Ringtail
 On February 28, 2005, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of the Ringtail group. Ringtail is a developer of litigation
support and knowledge management technologies for law firms, Fortune 500 corporate legal departments, government agencies and courts. The assets we
acquired include software products and technologies and intellectual property. Ringtail has developed a suite of integrated software modules to manage the
information and workflow in complex legal cases. The total acquisition cost was $34.6 million, consisting of net cash of $19.2 million, transaction costs of $0.4
million and 784,109 shares of our common stock valued at $15.0 million. We financed the cash portion of the purchase price with cash on hand and borrowings
under our revolving line of credit. We may be required to pay the sellers additional annual consideration based upon post-acquisition revenues for the each of the
years from 2005 through 2007. This earnout consideration may be up to $2.5 million per year and may be paid in cash, shares of our common stock or a
combination of both. We granted the sellers contractual protection against a decline in the value of any purchase price or earnout payment made in shares of our
common stock. If on the first anniversary date of any issuance of purchase price or earnout shares, the market price of our common stock has not increased by at
least 10%, we have agreed to make an additional cash payment to the sellers equal to the deficiency.
 

We acquired identifiable intangible assets consisting principally of software, contract backlog and customer relationships. The estimated valuation of these
intangible assets totals $7.1 million. We recorded $27.8 million of goodwill as a result of the value of the assembled workforce we acquired and the ability to earn
a higher rate of return from the acquired business than would be expected if those net assets had to be acquired or developed separately. We believe the goodwill
recorded as a result of this acquisition will be fully deductible for income tax purposes over the next 15 years.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
4. Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations
 

   

December 31,
2004

  

June 30,
2005

Senior secured credit facility         
Term loans, interest payable quarterly (3.7% to 4.0%—2004; 4.8% to 4.9%—2005)   $ 105,000  $142,500
Revolving line of credit of $100.0 million, interest payable quarterly    —     —  

     
Total long-term debt    105,000   142,500

Less current portion    21,250   35,625
     
Long-term debt, net of current portion   $ 83,750  $106,875

     
Total capital lease obligations   $ 345  $ 193

Less current portion    237   133
     
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion   $ 108  $ 60

     
 

Senior secured credit facility. On April 19, 2005, we amended our senior secured credit facility to provide for $50.0 million in additional secured term loan
financing. The entire $50.0 million term loan was fully drawn on April 19, 2005. We incurred $0.6 million of financing costs in connection with amending our
senior secured credit facility. We are amortizing these financing costs as interest expense through September 30, 2008.
 

As of June 30, 2005, our senior secured credit facility, as amended, provided for up to $275.0 million of secured financing, consisting of a $100.0 million
revolving line of credit and $175.0 million in term loans. Principal payments on the term loans are payable quarterly through September 30, 2008. The maturity
date of the $100.0 million revolving line of credit is November 28, 2008. However, we may choose to repay outstanding borrowings under the senior secured
credit facility at any time before maturity without penalty. Debt under the senior secured credit facility bears interest at an annual rate equal to the Eurodollar rate
plus an applicable margin or an alternative base rate defined as the higher of (1) the lender’s announced U.S. prime rate or (2) the federal funds rate plus the sum
of 50 basis points and an applicable margin. Under the senior secured credit facility, the lenders have a security interest in substantially all of our assets.
 

As of June 30, 2005, substantially all of our subsidiaries are guarantors of borrowings under our senior secured credit facility in the amount of $142.5
million.
 

The senior secured credit facility contains covenants which limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness; create liens; pay dividends on, make
distributions or repurchases of our capital stock or make specified other restricted payments; consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets;
guarantee obligations of other entities; enter into hedging agreements; enter into transactions with affiliates or related persons or engage in any business other than
the consulting business. The senior secured credit facility requires compliance with financial ratios, including total indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA; EBITDA to specified charges and the maintenance of a minimum net worth, each as defined under the amended
senior secured credit facility. As of June 30, 2005, we were in compliance with all covenants as stipulated in the senior secured credit facility agreements. In
connection with the offerings described in note 9, we expect to repay all outstanding term loan borrowings and amend our senior secured credit facility to
facilitate such offerings and related transaction, adjust our financial covenants and effect certain other changes.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
Future maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations. For periods subsequent to June 30, 2005, scheduled annual maturities of long-term debt

and capital lease obligations outstanding as of June 30, 2005 are as follows.
 

   

Long-Term
Debt

  

Capital
Lease

Obligations

  

Total

July 1 to December 31, 2005   $ 16,875  $ 102  $ 16,977
2006    39,375   80   39,455
2007    46,875   16   46,891
2008    39,375   3   39,378
       
    142,500   201   142,701

Less imputed interest    —     8   8
       
   $142,500  $ 193  $142,693

       
 
5. Commitments and Contingencies
 Commitments. During the fourth quarter of 2004, we consolidated our New York City and Saddle Brook, New Jersey offices and relocated our employees
into our new office facility in New York City. As a result of this decision, we vacated leased office facilities prior to the lease termination dates. We recorded a
loss of $4.7 million related to the abandoned facilities during the fourth quarter of 2004. This charge included $4.0 million representing the present value of the
future lease payments related to the facilities we vacated net of estimated sublease income and $0.7 million of asset impairments. As of December 31, 2004, the
balance of the liability for loss on abandoned facilities was $3.7 million. During the first six months of 2005, we made payments, net of sublease income, of about
$1.0 million against the lease loss liability. As of June 30, 2005, the balance of the liability for loss on abandoned facilities was $2.7 million.
 

Contingencies. We are subject to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In management’s opinion, we believe we have adequate legal
defenses and/or insurance coverage with respect to the eventuality of such actions. We do not believe any settlement or judgment would materially affect our
financial position or results of operations.
 

See “Part II—Other Information, Item 1. Legal Proceedings.”
 
Stockholders’ Equity
 Common stock repurchase program. In October 2003, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program under which we may purchase, from
time to time, up to $50.0 million of our common stock. This program is effective through October 31, 2005. The shares of common stock may be purchased
through open market or privately negotiated transactions and will be funded with a combination of cash on hand, existing bank credit facilities or new credit
facilities. During 2005, we purchased and retired 392,800 shares of our common stock at a total cost of about $7.7 million. Since inception of the program, we
have purchased and retired a total of 1.2 million shares of our common stock for a total of $22.5 million. In May 2005, our board of directors increased the
amount of cash we are authorized to spend on the share repurchase program from $27.5 million available at that time to $50.0 million. Recently, our board of
directors separately authorized $100.0 million in stock repurchases that we intend to consummate in connection with the offerings described below in note 9.
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FTI Consulting, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
6. Equity Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans
 Equity Compensation Plans. Our 1997 Stock Option Plan provides for the issuance of up to 11,587,500 shares of common stock to employees and non-
employee directors. Under the terms of the 1997 plan, we may grant option rights or shares of restricted and unrestricted common stock to employees. As of June
30, 2005, 24,584 shares of common stock are available for grant under our 1997 Stock Option Plan.
 

Our 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for grants of option rights, appreciation rights, restricted or unrestricted shares, performance awards or other
stock-based awards to our officers, employees, non-employee directors and individual service providers. We are authorized to issue up to 3,000,000 shares of
common stock under the 2004 plan. As of June 30, 2005, 1,836,132 shares of common stock are available for grant under our 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
 

Vesting provisions for individual awards under our stock option plans are at the discretion of our board of directors. Generally, outstanding options have
been granted at prices equal to or exceeding the market value of the stock on the grant date, vest over three to five years, and expire ten years subsequent to
award.
 

During the six months ended June 30, 2004, we granted 56,749 shares of restricted common stock to employees at a weighted-average fair value of $15.52.
During the six months ended June 30, 2005, we granted 10,000 shares of restricted common stock to employees at a weighted-average fair value of $22.34.
Restricted shares are generally contingent on continued employment and vest over periods of three to ten years.
 

The following table summarizes the option activity under the plans for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2005.
 

   

2004

  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

  

2005

  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Options outstanding, January 1   4,330  $ 18.54  4,408  $ 19.17
Options granted during the period:               

Options granted = fair market value   655  $ 16.58  722  $ 20.96
Options granted > fair market value   45  $ 17.82  45  $ 22.40

Options exercised   (415) $ 5.95  (152) $ 17.38
Options forfeited   (437) $ 22.26  (17) $ 23.43

           
Options outstanding, June 30   4,178  $ 19.09  5,006  $ 19.49

           
Options exercisable, June 30   1,866  $ 17.26  2,939  $ 18.51

           
 

Following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2005.
 

   

Options Outstanding

  

Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Range

  

Shares

  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

  

Shares

  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

$  1.90–$12.36   908  $ 9.17  5.4 years  908  $ 9.17
$14.14–$19.00   954  $ 17.04  8.9 years  263  $ 16.31
$19.24–$21.33   997  $ 20.67  8.0 years  653  $ 21.02
$21.65–$23.82   854  $ 22.28  8.9 years  193  $ 22.39
$24.28–$33.25   1,293  $ 25.82  7.3 years  922  $ 25.73
                
   5,006  $ 19.49     2,939  $ 18.51
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 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 The FTI Consulting, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan allows eligible employees to subscribe to purchase shares of common stock through payroll
deductions of up to 15% of eligible compensation, subject to limitations. The purchase price is the lower of 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on
the first trading day or the last trading day of each semi-annual offering period. The aggregate number of shares purchased by an employee may not exceed
$25,000 of fair market value annually, subject to limitations imposed by Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. A total of 2,300,000 shares are authorized for
purchase under the plan. As of June 30, 2005, 917,518 shares of our common stock are available for purchase under the plan. Employees purchased shares under
this plan during the following periods at the weighted average prices per share as indicated: six months ended June 30, 2004—202,396 at $14.03; six months
ended June 30, 2005—109,998 at $13.96.
 
7. Comprehensive Income
 

   

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2004

Net income   $ 24,310
Other comprehensive income—change in fair value of interest rate swaps    24
   
Total comprehensive income, net of income taxes   $ 24,334

   
 
8. Segment Reporting
 We manage our business in three reportable operating segments that each provides distinct services. Our reportable operating segments are managed
separately and include our forensic/litigation/technology practice, our corporate finance/restructuring practice and our economic consulting practice.
 

We evaluate the performance of these operating segments based on operating income before depreciation, amortization and corporate general and
administrative expenses. In general, our assets are not specifically attributable to any particular segment; therefore, we do not allocate assets to our reportable
segments. Accordingly, asset information by reportable segment is not presented. The reportable segments use the same accounting policies as those used by the
company. There are no significant intercompany sales or transfers.
 

Substantially all of our revenues and assets are attributed to or are located in the United States. We do not have a single customer that represents ten percent
or more of our consolidated revenues.
 

   

Forensic/
Litigation/
Technology

  

Corporate
Finance/

Restructuring

  

Economic
Consulting

  

Corporate

  

Total

Three months ended June 30, 2004                     
Revenues   $ 45,742  $ 39,576  $ 22,127  $ —    $107,445
Gross margin    22,080   18,625   8,383   —     49,088
Segment profit    14,408   12,622   5,346   (5,829)  26,547

Three months ended June 30, 2005                     
Revenues   $ 52,031  $ 44,342  $ 27,544  $ —    $123,917
Gross margin    27,238   20,949   10,538   —     58,725
Segment profit    18,988   13,794   6,866   (7,502)  32,146
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 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(amounts in tables expressed in thousands, except per share data)
Unaudited

 

   

Forensic/
Litigation/
Technology

  

Corporate
Finance/

Restructuring

  

Economic
Consulting

  

Corporate

  

Total

Six months ended June 30, 2004                     
Revenues   $ 89,855  $ 82,863  $ 44,967  $ —    $217,685
Gross margin    42,316   38,623   16,491   —     97,430
Segment profit    27,029   25,259   10,758   (11,783)  51,263

Six months ended June 30, 2005                     
Revenues   $101,727  $ 85,836  $ 52,968  $ —    $240,531
Gross margin    50,212   41,271   19,511   —     110,994
Segment profit    33,913   27,420   12,669   (15,139)  58,863

 
The following table presents a reconciliation of segment profit to income before income tax provision.

 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

   

2004

  

2005

  

2004

  

2005

Operating profit                 
Total segment profit   $26,547  $32,146  $51,263  $58,863
Depreciation and amortization    2,251   2,711   4,351   5,312
Amortization of other intangible assets    1,255   1,608   2,976   2,357
Interest and other expense, net    1,396   2,310   2,803   3,865
Litigation settlement losses, net    —     708   —     1,012

         
Income before income tax provision   $21,645  $24,809  $41,133  $46,317

         
 
9. Subsequent Events
 On July 19, 2005, we announced the offering of approximately $300.0 million of long-term debt, including approximately $175.0 million in principal
amount of senior notes due 2013 and approximately $125.0 million in principal amount of convertible senior subordinated notes due July 15, 1012. We anticipate
closing the offerings by early August 2005.
 

We estimate that the net proceeds from the offerings, after deducting estimated fees and expenses and the initial purchasers’ discounts, will be
approximately $290.0 million (or approximately $314.1 million if the initial purchasers’ option to purchase additional convertible notes is exercised in full). We
intend to use approximately $142.5 million to repay all outstanding term loan borrowings under our senior secured credit facility. In addition, we intend to use
approximately $100.0 million of net proceeds from the offerings to repurchase shares of our common stock through a combination of direct share repurchases, an
accelerated stock buyback program and open market purchases. We may use a portion of the net proceeds of the offerings to enter into convertible note hedge and
written call option transactions, the “Call Spread,” the exposure for which would be held by the initial purchasers of the offerings or their affiliates. The
convertible note hedge is expected to reduce the potential dilution from conversion of the convertible notes and effectively increase the conversion price to us,
and the written call option is expected to partially offset the cost of the convertible note hedge. If we consummate the convertible notes offering and decide to
enter into the Call Spread, the convertible note hedge will involve the purchase by us of a call option from each counterparty and the written call option will
involve the sale by us of a call option to each counterparty with a higher strike price than the purchased call options. We intend to use the remaining net proceeds
for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 Introduction and Overview.
 The following is a discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations for the three- and six-month periods ended June
30, 2005 and 2004, and significant factors that could affect our prospective financial condition and results of operations. You should read this discussion together
with the accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements and notes and with our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Historical results and any discussion of prospective results may not indicate our future performance. See “—Forward Looking Statements.”
 

We are a leading provider of forensic/litigation/technology, corporate finance/restructuring and economic consulting services in the United States. Through
our forensic/litigation/technology practice, we provide an extensive range of services to assist clients in all phases of litigation, including pre-filing, discovery,
jury selection, trial preparation, expert testimony and other trial support services. Specifically, we help clients assess complex financial transactions, reconstruct
events from incomplete and/or corrupt data, uncover vital evidence, identify potential claims and assist in the pursuit of financial recoveries and settlements.
Through the use of proprietary information technology, we have demonstrated our ability to help control litigation costs, expedite the trial process and provide our
clients with the ability to readily organize and access case-related data. Our repository services offer clients a secure extranet and web-hosting service for critical
information. Our graphics services at trial and technology and electronic evidence experts assist clients in preparing for and presenting their cases in court.
 

Our corporate finance/restructuring practice assists underperforming companies as they make decisions to improve their financial condition and operations.
We analyze, recommend and implement strategic alternatives for our corporate finance/restructuring clients, such as interim management in turnaround situations,
rightsizing infrastructure, assessing long-term viability and business strategy consulting. We lead and manage the financial aspects of in-court restructuring
processes by offering services that include an assessment of the impact of a bankruptcy filing on the client’s financial condition and operations. We also assist our
clients in planning for a smooth transition into and out of bankruptcy, facilitating the sale of assets and arranging debtor-in-possession financing.
 

Through our economic consulting practice, we deliver sophisticated economic analysis and modeling of issues arising in mergers and acquisitions and other
complex commercial and securities litigation. Our services include providing advice and testimony related to:
 
 •  antitrust and competition issues that arise in the context of potential mergers and acquisitions;
 
 •  other antitrust issues, including alleged price fixing, cartels and other forms of exclusionary behavior;
 
 •  the application of modern finance theory to issues arising in securities litigation; and
 
 •  public policy studies on behalf of companies, trade associations and governmental agencies.
 

Our statistical and economic experts help companies evaluate issues such as the economic impact of deregulation on a particular industry or the amount of
commercial damages suffered by a business. We have deep industry experience in such areas as commercial and investment banking, telecommunications, energy,
transportation and pharmaceuticals. Our professionals have experience providing testimony in the following areas: fraud, damages, lost profits, valuation,
accountant’s liability and malpractice, contract disputes, patent infringement, price fixing, purchase price disputes, solvency and insolvency, fraudulent
conveyance, preferences, disclosure statements, trademark and copyright infringement and the financial impact of government regulations.
 

Recent Events Affecting Our Operations. On February 28, 2005, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of the Ringtail
group. Ringtail is a developer of litigation support and knowledge management technologies for law firms. The assets we acquired include software products and
technologies and
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intellectual property. Ringtail has developed a suite of integrated software modules to manage the information and workflow in complex legal cases. The total
acquisition cost was $34.6 million, consisting of net cash of $19.2 million, transaction costs of $0.4 million and 784,109 shares of our common stock valued at
$15.0 million. We financed the cash portion of the purchase price with cash on hand and borrowings under our revolving line of credit. We may be required to pay
the sellers additional annual consideration based upon post-acquisition revenues for the each of the years from 2005 through 2007. The earnout consideration may
be up to $2.5 million per year and may be paid in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of both. We granted the sellers contractual protection
against a decline in the value of the purchase price and any earnout payment made in shares of our common stock. If on the first anniversary date of any issuance
of purchase price or earnout shares, the market price of our common stock has not increased by at least 10%, we have agreed to make an additional cash payment
to the sellers equal to the deficiency. Ringtail operates as part of our forensic/litigation/technology practice.
 

On April 19, 2005, we amended our senior secured credit facility to provide for $50.0 million in additional secured term loan financing. Borrowing
conditions, maturity, interest rate and payment terms remained substantially the same. Principal payments on the additional term loan began on June 30, 2005 and
are payable quarterly thereafter through September 30, 2008. The entire $50.0 million in additional term loan was fully drawn on April 19, 2005. A portion of the
proceeds was used to pay amounts outstanding under our revolving line of credit with the remainder available for general corporate purposes.
 

On May 31, 2005, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Cambio Health Solutions, based in Nashville, Tennessee.
Cambio is a leading provider of change management solutions for hospital and health systems. It provides strategic, operational and turnaround management
consulting services to improve the operational efficiency and financial performance of its clients. Cambio’s clients include academic medical centers, integrated
delivery systems, stand-alone community hospitals, investor-owned hospitals and special medical facilities. The total acquisition cost was $42.6 million,
consisting of net cash of $29.2 million, transaction costs of $0.5 million and 578,994 shares of our common stock valued at about $12.9 million. Cambio operates
as part of our corporate finance/restructuring practice.
 

Transactions and Developments after June 30, 2005. On July 19, 2005, we announced the offering of approximately $300.0 million of long-term debt,
including approximately $175.0 million in principal amount of senior notes due 2013 and approximately $125.0 million in principal amount of convertible senior
subordinated notes due July 15, 1012. We anticipate closing the offerings by early August 2005.
 

We estimate that the net proceeds from the offerings, after deducting estimated fees and expenses and the initial purchasers’ discounts, will be
approximately $290.0 million (or approximately $314.1 million if the initial purchasers’ option to purchase additional convertible notes is exercised in full). We
intend to use approximately $142.5 million to repay all outstanding term loan borrowings under our senior secured credit facility. In addition, we intend to use
approximately $100.0 million of net proceeds from the offerings to repurchase shares of our common stock through a combination of direct share repurchases, an
accelerated stock buyback program and open market purchases. We may use a portion of the net proceeds of the offerings to enter into convertible note hedge and
written call option transactions, the “Call Spread,” the exposure for which would be held by the initial purchasers of the offerings or their affiliates. The
convertible note hedge is expected to reduce the potential dilution from conversion of the convertible notes and effectively increase the conversion price to us,
and the written call option is expected to partially offset the cost of the convertible note hedge. If we consummate the convertible notes offering and decide to
enter into the Call Spread, the convertible note hedge will involve the purchase by us of a call option from each counterparty and the written call option will
involve the sale by us of a call option to each counterparty with a higher strike price than the purchased call options. We intend to use the remaining net proceeds
for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions.
 

Financial and Operating Overview. We derive substantially all of our revenues from providing professional services to our clients in the United States.
Over the past several years the growth in our revenues and profitability has resulted primarily from the acquisitions we have completed and also from our ability
to attract new and recurring engagements.
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Most of our services are rendered under time-and-expense arrangements that require the client to pay us a fee for the hours that we incur at agreed-upon
rates. Under this arrangement we also bill our clients for reimbursable expenses which may include the cost of producing our work products and other direct
expenses that we incur on behalf of the client, such as travel costs and materials that we purchase to produce presentations for courtroom proceedings. We also
have performance-based engagements in which we earn a success fee when and if certain predefined outcomes occur. This type of success fee may supplement a
time-and-expense or fixed fee arrangement. Success fee revenues may cause significant variations in our revenues and operating results due to the timing of
achieving the performance-based criteria.
 

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, our revenues increased $16.5 million, or 15.3%, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2004.
During the six months ended June 30, 2005, our revenues increased $22.8 million, or 10.5%, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2004. Revenues
increased in each of our operating segments for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. This growth is primarily attributable
to an increase in the number of billable professionals we employ as well as to the acquisitions of Ringtail and Cambio completed during 2005. See “—Results of
Operations” for a more detailed discussion and analysis of our financial results.
 

Our financial results are primarily driven by:
 
 •  the utilization rates of the billable professionals we employ;
 
 •  the number of billable professionals we employ;
 
 •  the rates per hour we charge our clients for service; and
 
 •  the number and size of engagements we secure.
 

Utilization Rates of Billable Professionals
 

   

Three Months Ended June 30,

  

Six Months Ended June 30,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

  

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

 
Forensic/Litigation/Technology   76%  76%  —    76%  77%  1.3%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   84%  84%  —    84%  84%  —   
Economic Consulting   81%  86%  6.2% 83%  86%  3.6%

Total Company   79%  81%  2.5% 80%  81%  1.3%
 

We calculate the utilization rate for our professionals by dividing the number of hours that all of our professionals worked on client assignments during a
period by the total available working hours for all of our professionals, assuming a 40-hour work week and a 52-week year. Available working hours include
vacation and professional training days, but exclude holidays. Utilization of our professionals is affected by a number of factors, including:
 
 •  the number, size and timing of client engagements;
 
 •  the hiring of new professionals, which generally results in a temporary drop in our utilization rate during the transition period for new hires;
 
 •  our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain an appropriate level of professionals; and
 
 •  conditions affecting the industries in which we practice as well as general economic conditions.
 

During the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2005, our overall utilization rate increased as compared to 2004 which is primarily attributable to
the increased utilization of professionals in our economic
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consulting practice. The increased utilization rate in our economic consulting practice is primarily attributable to larger client assignments in the first half of 2005
as compared to 2004 and to more robust market conditions.
 

The increased utilization rate in our forensic/litigation/technology practice for the six-months ended June 20, 2005 as compared to 2004 is primarily
attributable to the dispute advisory services business of KPMG that we acquired in the fourth quarter of 2003. The overall utilization rate of these professionals
was low for the first few months of 2004 after completion of the acquisition. This had a negative impact on the overall utilization rate for this practice during the
first half of 2004. The utilization rates in the forensic/litigation/technology practice is highly impacted by seasonal factors such as the vacation of our staff as well
as client personnel. As a result, we expect lower utilization rates during the summer months of the third quarter and during the holiday season in the fourth quarter
than we experience during the first half of the year.
 

Number of Revenue-Generating Professionals
 

   

June 30, 2004

  

June 30, 2005

  Percent
Change

    

Headcount

  

% of Total

  

Headcount

  

% of Total

  
Forensic/Litigation/Technology   375  50.0% 423  47.6% 12.8%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring   229  30.5% 310  34.9% 35.4%
Economic Consulting   146  19.5% 155  17.5% 6.2%
           

Total Company   750  100.0% 888  100.0% 18.4%

           
 

Revenue-generating professionals include both billable consultants that generate revenues based on hourly billing rates and other revenue generating
employees who support our customers or develop software products. The number of revenue-generating employees in the forensic/litigation/technology practice
increased from June 30, 2004 to June 30, 2005 which is due to increased demand for services as well as the acquisition of Ringtail on February 28, 2005. This
acquisition added 23 revenue-generating professionals to this practice. These professionals primarily develop software products. The number of billable
professionals in the corporate finance/restructuring practice increased throughout 2004 as this practice was recovering from the unanticipated departure of about
60 billable professionals during the first quarter of 2004. In addition, the acquisition of Cambio on May 31, 2005 added 56 revenue-generating professionals to
the corporate finance/restructuring practice. During the second quarter of 2005, the number of billable professionals in the economic consulting practice increased
in response to increased demand for economic consulting services resulting from improving market conditions.
 

Average Billable Rate per Hour
 

   

Three Months Ended
June 30,

  

Six Months Ended
June 30,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

  

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

 
Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $292  $284  (2.7)%  $289  $278  (3.8)%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    416   397  (4.6)%   408   404  (1.0)%
Economic Consulting    367   379  3.3%   371   381  2.7%

Total Company    347   340  (2.0)%   345   339  (1.7)%
 

We calculate average billable rate per hour by dividing employee revenues for the period; excluding:
 
 •  revenues generated from utilizing outside consultants,
 
 •  revenues not associated with billable hours, and
 
 •  revenues resulting from reimbursable expenses;
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by the number of hours worked on client assignments during the same period. Average hourly billable rates are affected by a number of factors, including:
 
 •  the relative mix of our billable professionals (utilization by staff level);
 
 •  our standard billing rates, which we have increased across all practices;
 
 •  our clients’ perception of our ability to add value through the services we provide;
 
 •  the market demand for our services;
 
 •  introduction of new services by our competitors;
 
 •  the pricing policies of our competitors;
 
 •  the mix of services that we provide;
 
 

•  the level of revenue realization adjustments made during the period, including adjustments for potential or court ordered fee and expense adjustments;
and

 
 •  general economic conditions.
 

Effective January 1, 2005, we modified our calculation of average billable rate per hour to include revenue realization adjustments and success fees earned
as part of employee revenues. Average billable rates per hour for prior periods have been adjusted to conform to our current presentation.
 

Average billable rate per hour decreased in our forensic/litigation/technology practice primarily due to an increase in the proportion of billable
professionals at lower levels, resulting in lower billing rates relative to the prior year. Our corporate finance/restructuring practice implemented planned bill rate
increases during the second quarter of 2004, during the third quarter of 2004 as a result of promotions and again during the first quarter of 2005. However, the
average billable rate per hour decreased in this practice primarily due to a decrease in success fees recognized. Average billable rate per hour increased in our
economic practice primarily due to an increase in demand for these services which has driven up the utilization rate in this practice.
 
Segment Profits.
 

   

2004

  

2005

    

   

Segment
Profits

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  

Segment
Profits

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  

Percent
Change

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Three Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 14,408  31.5% $ 18,988  36.5% 31.8%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    12,622  31.9%  13,794  31.1% 9.3%
Economic Consulting    5,346  24.2%  6,866  24.9% 28.4%
Corporate    (5,829) —     (7,502) —    28.7%

             
Total Company   $ 26,547  24.7% $ 32,146  25.9% 21.1%

             
Six Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 27,029  30.1% $ 33,913  33.3% 25.5%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    25,259  30.5%  27,420  31.9% 8.6%
Economic Consulting    10,758  23.9%  12,669  23.9% 17.8%
Corporate    (11,783) —     (15,139) —    28.5%

             
Total Company   $ 51,263  23.5% $ 58,863  24.5% 14.8%

             
 

We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on operating income before depreciation, amortization and corporate selling, general and
administrative expenses.
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The increase in segment profits for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 was driven by several factors, including the
following:
 

 
•  a $4.6 million and a $6.9 million increase attributable to our forensic/litigation/technology practice. This increase was due primarily to an increase in

the number of billable professionals, while maintaining utilization rates, coupled with revenues growing at a faster pace than operating costs which
results in increased profitability.

 

 
•  a $1.2 million and a $2.2 million increase attributable to our corporate finance/restructuring practice. Segment profits improved in this practice as a

result of planned bill rate increases during the second quarter of 2004, during the third quarter of 2004 as a result of promotions and again during the
first quarter of 2005. This increase was also due to an increase in the number of billable professionals, while maintaining utilization rates.

 
 

•  a $1.5 million and a $1.9 million increase attributable to our economic consulting practice. This increase was due primarily to an increase in the
utilization of our professionals which results in increased profitability.

 
 

•  offset by a $1.7 million and a $3.4 million increase in corporate overhead expenses which is discussed in more detail below under “—Results of
Operations—Selling, General and Administrative Expense.”

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 General. Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which we have
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
We evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts, goodwill, income taxes and contingencies on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These results form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.
 

We believe that the following critical accounting policies reflect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.
 

Revenue Recognition. Our services are primarily rendered under arrangements that require the client to pay us on a time-and-expense basis. We recognize
revenues for our professional services rendered under time-and-expense engagements based on the hours incurred at agreed upon rates as work is performed. We
recognize revenue from reimbursable expenses in the period in which the expense is incurred. The basis for our policy is the fact that we normally obtain
engagement letters or other agreements from our clients prior to performing any services. In these letters and other agreements, the clients acknowledge that they
will pay us based upon our time spent on the engagement and at our agreed-upon hourly rates. We are periodically engaged to provide services in connection with
client matters where payment of our fees is deferred until the conclusion of the matter or upon the achievement of performance-based criteria. We recognize
revenues for these arrangements when all the performance-based criteria are met and collection of the fee is reasonably assured.
 

Revenues recognized but not yet billed to clients are recorded at net realizable value as unbilled receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Billings in excess of services provided represent amounts billed to clients, such as retainers, in advance of work being performed.
 

Some clients pay us retainers before we begin any work for them. We hold retainers on deposit until we have completed the work. We apply these retainers
to final billings and refund any excess over the final amount billed to clients, as appropriate, upon our completion of the work. If the client is in bankruptcy, fees
for our
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professional services may be subject to approval by the court. In some cases, a portion of the fees to be paid to us by a client is required by a court to be held until
completion of our work. We make a determination whether to record all or a portion of such a holdback as revenue prior to collection on a case-by-case basis.
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Unbilled Services. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of our clients to pay our fees or for disputes that affect our ability to fully collect our billed accounts receivable, as well as potential fee reductions or refunds
imposed by bankruptcy courts. Even if a bankruptcy court approves of our services, it has the discretion to require us to refund all or a portion of our fees due to
the outcome of the case or a variety of other factors. We estimate the allowance for these risks by reviewing the status of all accounts and recording reserves
based on our experiences in these cases and historical bad debt expense. However, our actual experience may vary significantly from our estimates. If the
financial condition of our clients were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to pay our fees, or the bankruptcy courts require us to refund certain fees, we may
need to record additional allowances or write-offs in future periods. This risk is mitigated to the extent that we may receive retainers from some of our clients
prior to performing significant services.
 

The provision for doubtful accounts and unbilled services is recorded as a reduction to revenues to the extent the provision relates to fee adjustments,
estimates of refunds that may be imposed by bankruptcy courts and other discretionary pricing adjustments. To the extent the provision relates to a client’s
inability to make required payments, the provision is recorded as bad debt expense which we classify within selling, general and administrative expense.
 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. As of June 30, 2005, goodwill and other intangible assets represented 73.4% of our total assets. The majority of our
goodwill and other intangible assets were generated from acquisitions we have completed since 2002. Other intangible assets include trade names, customer
relationships, contract backlog, non-competition agreements, software and intellectual property. We make at least annual assessments of impairment of our
goodwill and intangible assets. In making these impairment assessments, we must make subjective judgments regarding estimated future cash flows and other
factors to determine the fair value of the reporting units of our business that are associated with these assets. It is possible that these judgments may change over
time as market conditions or our strategies change, and these changes may cause us to record impairment charges to adjust our goodwill and other intangible
assets to their estimated implied fair value or net realizable value.
 

Income Taxes. Our income tax provision consists principally of federal and state income taxes. Our estimated combined federal and state income tax rate
was 41% for the first half of 2004 and 42% for the year ended December 31, 2004 and the first half of 2005. We generate income in a significant number of states
located throughout the United States. Our effective income tax rate may fluctuate due to a change in the mix of earnings between higher and lower state tax
jurisdictions and the impact of non-deductible expenses. Additionally, we record deferred tax assets and liabilities using the liability method of accounting which
requires us to measure these assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We have
not recorded any significant valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets as we believe the recorded amounts are more likely than not to be realized. If the
assumptions used in preparing our income tax provision differ from those used in the preparation of our income tax return, we may experience a change in our
effective income tax rate for the year.
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Results of Operations
 Revenues.
 

   

2004

  

2005

  Percent
Change

    

Revenues

  

% of Total

  

Revenues

  

% of Total

  
   (dollars in thousands)  
Three Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 45,742  42.6% $ 52,031  42.0% 13.7%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    39,576  36.8%  44,342  35.8% 12.0%
Economic Consulting    22,127  20.6%  27,544  22.2% 24.5%

           
Total Company   $107,445  100.0% $123,917  100.0% 15.3%

           
Six Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 89,855  41.3% $101,727  42.3% 13.2%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    82,863  38.1%  85,836  35.7% 3.6%
Economic Consulting    44,967  20.6%  52,968  22.0% 17.8%

           
Total Company   $217,685  100.0% $240,531  100.0% 10.5%

           
 

Revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2005 increased $16.5 million or 15.3% as compared to the quarter ended June 30, 2004. Revenues for the six
months ended June 30, 2005 increased $22.8 million or 10.5% as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in revenues is attributable to the
following.
 

 

•  Forensic/Litigation/Technology Practice. Revenues increased by $6.3 million for the three-month period and by $11.8 million for the six-month
period. The acquisition of the Ringtail group on February 28, 2005 contributed to the increased revenues by $3.2 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 and by $3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. Our existing technology practice
also contributed to the increased revenues in this practice by $3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 and by $7.2
million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. The remaining increase is attributable to an increase in billable professionals.

 
 

•  Corporate Finance/Restructuring Practice. Revenues increased by $4.8 million for the three-month period and by $3.0 million for the six-month
period due to the following:

 
 •  a $2.8 million increase for the three- and six-month period attributable to the acquisition of Cambio that occurred on May 31, 2005;
 
 

•  a $2.2 million and a $5.2 million increase attributable to increases in hourly billing rates as well as increases in the number of billable
professionals; and

 
 •  a $0.2 million and a $1.4 million increase attributable to an increase in business related to our merger and acquisitions group; offset by
 
 

•  a $0.4 million and a $6.5 million decrease related to the unanticipated departure of a number of billable professionals during the first quarter of
2004.

 

 
•  Economic Consulting Practice. Revenues increased by $5.4 million for the three-month period and by $8.0 million for the six-month period primarily

due to increased utilization of our professionals relating to increased demand for economic consulting services resulting from more robust market
conditions in the first half of 2005 as compared to 2004.
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Direct Cost of Revenues.
 

   

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

    

Cost of
Revenues

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  

Cost of
Revenues

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  
   (dollars in thousands)  
Three Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 23,662  51.7% $ 24,793  47.7% 4.8%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    20,951  52.9%  23,393  52.8% 11.7%
Economic Consulting    13,744  62.1%  17,006  61.7% 23.7%

               
Total Company   $ 58,357  54.3% $ 65,192  52.6% 11.7%

               
Six Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 47,539  52.9% $ 51,515  50.6% 8.4%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    44,240  53.4%  44,565  51.9% 0.7%
Economic Consulting    28,476  63.3%  33,457  63.2% 17.5%

               
Total Company   $120,255  55.2% $129,537  53.9% 7.7%

               
 

Our direct cost of revenues consists primarily of employee compensation and related payroll benefits, including the amortization of signing bonuses given
in the form of forgivable loans, the cost of outside consultants that we retain to supplement our professional staff, reimbursable expenses, including travel and
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with an engagement; depreciation on equipment used to support our client engagements and other related expenses
billable to clients. Direct cost of revenues decreased as a percentage of revenues for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004
for the total company as well as for the forensic/litigation/technology practice. This is primarily due to the acquisition of Ringtail on February 28, 2005, which
generates a high gross margin due to the nature of its software business as compared with the historical results of this operating segment. Direct cost of revenues
decreased as a percentage of revenues in our corporate finance/restructuring practice for the six-months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 primarily due
to increases in hourly billing rates and decreased use of outside consultants.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expense.
 

   

2004

  

2005

  

Percent
Change

    

SG & A

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  

SG & A

  

% of
Segment
Revenues

  
   (dollars in thousands)  
Three Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $ 8,693  19.0% $ 9,286  17.8% 6.8%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    6,251  15.8%  7,563  17.1% 21.0%
Economic Consulting    3,266  14.8%  3,977  14.4% 21.8%
Corporate    6,582  —     8,464  —    28.6%

               
Total Company   $24,792  23.1% $29,290  23.6% 18.1%

               
Six Months Ended June 30,                   

Forensic/Litigation/Technology   $16,912  18.8% $18,369  18.1% 8.6%
Corporate Finance/Restructuring    14,196  17.1%  14,663  17.1% 3.3%
Economic Consulting    6,177  13.7%  7,425  14.0% 20.2%
Corporate    13,233  —     16,986  —    28.4%

               
Total Company   $50,518  23.2% $57,443  23.9% 13.7%
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Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits paid to office and sales staff, rent, marketing, corporate overhead
expenses, bad debt expense and depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. Segment selling, general and administrative costs include those
expenses that are incurred directly by that segment as well as an allocation of some centrally managed costs, such as information technology services, marketing
and facility costs. Unallocated corporate selling, general and administrative costs include expenses related to other centrally managed administrative and
marketing functions. These costs include corporate office support costs, costs relating to accounting, human resources, legal, company-wide business
development and advertising functions, as well as costs related to overall corporate management. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased as a
percentage of our total revenues for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 primarily due to corporate overhead costs
increasing as a percentage of total revenues from 6.1% during the first half of 2004 to 7.1% during the first half of 2005.
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses related to our operating segments increased by $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 as
compared to 2004 and $3.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. The increased expenses resulted from the following.
 

 
•  Forensic/Litigation/Technology Practice. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.6 million and $1.5 million for the three- and

six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. These increases are primarily due to a $0.9 million and $2.3 million increase in rent and
facility related costs; offset by a $0.2 million and a $0.7 million decrease in bad debt expense.

 

 

•  Corporate Finance/Restructuring Practice. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $1.3 million and $0.5 million for the three- and
six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. These increases are primarily due to a $0.2 million and a $0.6 million increase in rent
and facility related costs; a $0.4 million and a $0.4 million increase in recruiting expenses; a $0.2 million and $0.4 million increase in outside service
and legal expenses; and a $0.5 million and a ($0.9) million change in bad debt expense.

 

 

•  Economic Consulting Practice. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.7 million and $1.2 million for the three- and six-month
periods ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. These increases are primarily due to a $0.3 million and a $0.4 million increase in rent and facility
related costs; a $0.3 million increase in recruiting expenses for the six-month period; a $0.4 million and a $0.7 million increase in payroll related and
other expenses; offset by a $0.2 million decrease in bad debt expense for the six-month period.

 
Rent expense increased across all practices primarily due to the relocation of our New York City offices into a larger facility during the fourth quarter of

2004.
 

Our corporate selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $1.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004 and
$3.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. The increase in expense for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2005 as
compared to 2004 is attributable to:
 
 

•  a $1.2 million and a $1.9 million increase in salaries and related employee expenses as a result of an 21.3% increase in the number of corporate
employees necessary to support our growing organization as well as increased regulatory requirements;

 
 

•  a $0.6 million and a $1.3 million increase related to office rent and facility related costs, including depreciation and amortization expense, to support a
growing corporate services organization;

 
 •  a $0.4 million and a $0.4 million increase in advertising and other costs necessary to support a larger organization; and
 
 

•  a ($0.3) million and a $0.2 million change in outside consulting services, primarily due to decreases in legal fees as a result of decreased legal matters
in 2005 as compared to 2004, and a slight increase in fees for audit, tax and other consulting services.
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Amortization of Other Intangible Assets. The amortization expense related to other intangible assets increased by $0.4 million, or 28.1%, for the three
months ended June 30, 2005 as compared to 2004. This resulted from a $1.0 million increase attributable to the acquisitions of Ringtail and Cambio completed
during 2005 offset by a decrease of $0.6 million as substantially all of the contract backlog associated with the acquisitions completed in 2002 and 2003 became
fully amortized during 2004. The amortization expense related to other intangible assets decreased by $0.6 million, or 20.8%, for the six months ended June 30,
2005 as compared to 2004 resulting from a decrease of $1.8 million as substantially all of the contract backlog associated with the acquisitions completed in 2002
and 2003 became fully amortized during 2004, offset by a $1.2 million increase attributable to the acquisitions of Ringtail and Cambio completed during 2005.
We are in the process of performing a valuation of the intangible assets that we acquired with the Cambio transaction. At June 30, 2005, the estimated valuation
of these intangible assets, totaling $10.5 million, is based on data that we have developed to date. We expect to finalize our valuation during the second half of
2005. The final purchase price allocation may differ from our preliminary allocation, which may have an effect on our estimates of future amortization expense.
 

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 40.9% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 42.0% during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2005. Our effective tax rate increased over the past year as a result of an increasing portion of our taxable income being generated in state and local
jurisdictions with higher tax rates. We expect our effective tax rate to remain about 42.0% for the remainder of the current year, however, the rate may fluctuate if
our mix of earnings changes between higher and lower state tax jurisdictions.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 Cash Flows.
 

   

Six Months Ended
June 30,

  

Change from
Previous Year

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

Dollars

  

Percent

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Cash provided by operating activities   $ 503  $ 15,974  $15,471  3,075.7%
Cash used in investing activities    (4,419)  (50,183)  45,764  1,035.6%
Cash provided by financing activities    1,259   31,608   30,349  2,410.6%

 
We have historically financed our operations and capital expenditures solely through cash flows from operations. During the first quarters of 2004 and

2005, we did not generate sufficient cash flows from operations to fund our working capital needs which are generally higher during the first quarter of the year
when we make our annual incentive compensation and estimated income tax payments. As a result, we used borrowings under our revolving line of credit to
finance some of our cash needs for operating activities and capital expenditures. We also used borrowings under our revolving line of credit to finance our
acquisition of Ringtail and our share repurchase program, discussed in more detail below. During the second quarters of 2004 and 2005, our cash flows from
operations improved.
 

Our operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of billed and unbilled accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses and accrued
compensation expense. The timing of billings and collections of receivables as well as payments for compensation arrangements affect the changes in these
balances. During the first half of 2005, our accounts receivable, net of billings in excess of services provided have increased across all practice areas. This is
primarily due to increasing revenues. Our days sales have increased by about 5 days since December 31, 2004, but have improved since March 31, 2005, due to
our increased focus on collection activities. At June 30, 2005, billed and unbilled accounts receivable for our economics practice include $9.7 million of fees for
services rendered where payment will not be received until completion of the matter. This specific matter causes days sales outstanding to increase in this
practice.
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Net cash used in investing activities for the first half of 2005 increased $45.8 million as compared to the same period in 2004, primarily due to the $26.5
million of net cash used to acquire Cambio, which represents the total cash paid for the acquisition of $29.7 million net of $3.2 million of cash received, the $19.6
million we used to fund the Ringtail acquisition, an increase in capital expenditures of $4.9 million to support our growing organization, offset by $5.5 million
received as payment in full from a note receivable due from the purchasers of one of our former subsidiaries. The increase in capital expenditures is primarily due
to an increase in spending to relocate and expand our computer data center to support our growing organization and technology business, to modify and expand
our office facilities and to acquire additional furniture and information technology equipment. We had no material outstanding purchase commitments as of June
30, 2005.
 

Our financing activities have consisted principally of borrowings and repayments under long-term debt arrangements as well as issuances of common
stock. Our long-term debt arrangements have principally been obtained to provide financing for our business acquisitions. During the first half of 2004, our
financing activities consisted principally of $11.0 million of net borrowings under our revolving line of credit and $7.5 million of principal payments on our term
loans. During the first half of 2005, our financing activities consisted of additional term loan borrowings of $50.0 million offset by $12.5 million of principal
payments on our term loans.
 

In October 2003, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program under which we may purchase, from time to time, up to $50.0 million of our
common stock. This program is effective through October 31, 2005. The shares of common stock may be purchased through open market or privately negotiated
transactions and will be funded with a combination of cash on hand, existing bank credit facilities or new credit facilities. During the first half of 2004, we
purchased and retired 278,900 shares of our common stock at a total cost of about $4.4 million. During the first half of 2005, we purchased and retired 392,800
shares of our common stock at a total cost of about $7.7 million. Since inception of the program, we have purchased and retired a total of 1.2 million shares of our
common stock for a total of $22.5 million. In May 2005, our board of directors increased the amount of cash we are authorized to spend on the share repurchase
program from $27.5 million available at that time to $50.0 million. As described above under “Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Introduction and Overview—Transactions and Developments after June 30, 2005,” our board of directors separately
authorized $100.0 million in stock repurchases that we intend to consummate in connection with the pending private placement of our debt securities.
 

Capital Resources. Our senior secured credit facility, as amended on April 19, 2005, provides for up to $275.0 million of secured financing, consisting of a
$100.0 million revolving line of credit and $175.0 million in term loans. The maturity date of the $100.0 million revolving line of credit is November 28, 2008.
Principal payments on the term loans are payable quarterly through September 30, 2008. We may choose to repay outstanding borrowings under the senior
secured credit facility at any time before maturity without penalty. We have fully drawn the $175.0 million of available term loans and as of June 30, 2005, there
was $142.5 million that remained outstanding. Debt under the senior secured credit facility bears interest at an annual rate equal to the Eurodollar rate plus an
applicable margin or an alternative base rate defined as the higher of (1) the lender’s announced prime rate or (2) the federal funds rate plus the sum of 50 basis
points and an applicable margin. Under the senior secured credit facility, the lenders have a security interest in substantially all of our assets. As of June 30, 2005,
we had outstanding aggregate debt under the credit facility of $142.5 million, bearing interest at approximately 5%. In connection with the offerings described
above under “Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Introduction and Overview—Transactions and
Developments after June 30, 2005,” we expect to repay all outstanding term loan borrowings and amend our senior secured credit facility to facilitate the pending
private placement of our debt securities and related transactions, adjust our financial covenants and effect certain other changes.
 

Our amended and restated senior secured credit facility contains covenants which limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness; create liens; pay
dividends on, make distributions or repurchases of our capital stock or
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make specified other restricted payments; consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets; guarantee obligations of other entities; enter into hedging
agreements; enter into transactions with affiliates or related persons or engage in any business other than the consulting business. The senior secured credit
facility requires compliance with financial ratios, including total indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA;
EBITDA to specified charges and the maintenance of a minimum net worth, each as defined under the senior secured credit facility. At June 30, 2005, we were in
compliance with all covenants as stipulated in the senior secured credit facility agreements.
 

As of June 30, 2005, our capital resources included $23.1 million of cash and cash equivalents and a $100.0 million of borrowing capacity under our
revolving line of credit. The availability of borrowings under our revolving line of credit is subject to specified borrowing conditions. We use letters of credit
primarily as security deposits for our office facilities. Letters of credit reduce the availability under our revolving line of credit. As of June 30, 2005, we had $9.8
million of outstanding letters of credit, which reduced the available borrowings under our revolving line of credit to $90.2 million.
 

Future Capital Needs. We anticipate that our future capital needs will principally consist of funds required for:
 
 •  operating and general corporate expenses relating to the operation of our business;
 
 •  capital expenditures, primarily for information technology equipment, office furniture and leasehold improvements;
 
 •  debt service requirements;
 
 •  up to $50.0 million of discretionary funding for our share repurchase program that is effective through October 31, 2005; and
 
 •  potential acquisitions of businesses that would allow us to diversify or expand our current service offerings.
 

We anticipate capital expenditures will be about $12.0 million to support our organization during 2005. Our estimate takes into consideration the needs of
our existing business as well as the needs of our recently completed acquisitions of Ringtail and Cambio, but does not include the impact of any purchases that we
may be required to make to support specific client engagements. Our capital expenditure requirements may change if our staffing levels or technology needs
change significantly from what we currently anticipate, if we are required to purchase additional equipment specifically to support a client engagement or if we
pursue and complete additional business combinations.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We have no off-balance sheet financing arrangements other than operating leases and we have not entered into any
transactions involving unconsolidated subsidiaries or special purpose entities.
 

Future Contractual Obligations. The following table sets forth our estimates as to the amounts and timing of contractual payments for our most significant
contractual obligations and commitments as of June 30, 2005. The information in the table reflects future unconditional payments and is based on the terms of the
relevant agreements, appropriate classification of items under generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect and certain assumptions such as interest
rates. Future events, including our planned offerings of approximately $175.0 million of senior notes and approximately $125.0 million of convertible senior
subordinated notes, could cause actual payments to differ from these amounts. See “—Forward-Looking Statements.”
 

Future contractual obligations related to our long-term debt include principal amortization and estimated interest payments based on interest rates in effect
on July 1, 2005. The long-term debt obligations also assume that payments will be made based on the current payment schedule and excludes any term loan
prepayments that
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may occur as a result of our planned offerings of senior notes and convertible senior subordinated notes and any additional revolving line of credit borrowings or
any revolving line of credit repayments prior to the September 30, 2008 maturity date. Future contractual obligations related to our operating leases are net of our
contractual sublease receipts. The payment amounts for capital lease obligations include amounts due for interest.
 
Contractual Obligations
 

   

Total

  

2005

  

2006

  

2007

  

2008

  

2009

  

2010

  

Thereafter

   (in thousands)
Long-term debt   $ 142,500  $ 16,875  $ 39,375  $ 46,875  $ 39,375  $ —    $ —    $ —  
Interest on long-term debt    13,925   3,603   5,741   3,568   1,013   —     —     —  
Operating leases    151,312   6,326   12,967   12,530   12,013   12,038   11,569   83,869
Capital leases    201   102   80   16   3   —     —     —  
                 
Total obligations   $ 307,938  $ 26,906  $ 58,163  $ 62,989  $ 52,404  $ 12,038  $ 11,569  $ 83,869

                 
 

Future Outlook. We believe that our anticipated operating cash flows and our $113.3 million in total liquidity, consisting of our cash on hand and total
borrowings available under our revolving line of credit are sufficient to fund our capital and liquidity needs for at least the next twelve months. In making this
assessment, we have considered:
 
 

•  the net proceeds we expect to receive from the pending private placement of our debt securities after the application of our intended use of those
proceeds;

 
 •  funds required for debt service payments required under our senior secured credit facility and the debt securities we intend to issue;
 
 •  funds required for capital expenditures of about $12.0 million;
 
 •  the discretionary funding of our share repurchase program; and
 
 •  other future contractual obligations.
 

For the last several years our cash flows from operations have exceeded our cash needs for capital expenditures and debt service requirements. We believe
that our cash flows from operations, supplemented by short-term borrowings under our revolving line of credit, as necessary, will provide adequate cash to fund
our long-term cash needs from normal operations.
 

Our conclusion that we will be able to fund our cash requirements by using existing capital resources and cash generated from operations does not take into
account the impact of any acquisition transactions, not currently contemplated, the impact of our planned offerings of senior notes or convertible senior
subordinated notes or any unexpected changes in significant numbers of revenue-generating professionals. The anticipated cash needs of our business could
change significantly if we pursue and complete additional business acquisitions, if our business plans change, if economic conditions change from those currently
prevailing or from those now anticipated, or if other unexpected circumstances arise that may have a material effect on the cash flow or profitability of our
business. Any of these events or circumstances, including any new business opportunity, could involve significant additional funding needs in excess of the
identified currently available sources and could require us to raise additional debt or equity funding to meet those needs. Our ability to raise additional capital, if
necessary, is subject to a variety of factors that we cannot predict with certainty, including:
 
 •  our future profitability;
 
 •  the quality of our accounts receivable;
 
 •  our relative levels of debt and equity;
 
 •  the volatility and overall condition of the capital markets; and
 
 •  the market prices of our securities.
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Any new debt funding, if available, may be on terms less favorable to us than our senior secured credit facility or the proposed terms of the senior and
convertible notes that we intend to issue. See “—Forward-Looking Statements.”
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 Some of the statements under “—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report
contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
such forward-looking statements not to be fully achieved. These forward-looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. We are
under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report to conform such statements to actual results and do not intend to do so.
Factors, which may cause the actual results of operations in future periods to differ materially from intended or expected results include, but are not limited to, the
risk factors described in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 We are subject to market risk associated with changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt. Our primary interest rate risk results from changes in the
U.S. Prime and Eurodollar rates, which are used to determine the interest rates applicable to borrowings under our senior secured credit facility. Interest rate
changes expose our variable rate long-term borrowings to changes in future cash flows. From time to time, we use derivative instruments primarily consisting of
interest rate swap agreements to manage this interest rate exposure by achieving a desired proportion of fixed rate versus variable rate borrowings. These hedges
reduce our exposure to rising interest rates, but also reduce the benefits from lower interest rates. As of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, we did not have
any derivative instruments.
 

The table below provides information about our debt obligations that are sensitive to changes in interest rates as of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004.
The table presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by year of maturity for our senior secured credit facility. We have estimated the
fair value of our senior secured credit facility based on its carrying value, as interest rates are reset every 30 to 90 days.
 

  

Year of Maturity

 

June 30,
2005

 

December 31,
2004

  

2005

  

2006

  

2007

  

2008

  

2009

 

Thereafter

 

Total

  

Fair
Value

 

Total

  

Fair
Value

  (dollars in thousands)
Interest Rate Sensitivity:                                     

Long-term debt                                     

Variable rate  $16,875  $39,375  $46,875  $39,375  $—   $ —   $142,500  $142,500 $105,000  $105,000
Average interest rate   5%  5%  5%  5%        5%     4%   
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-14(c) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q was made under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act is timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported and (b) include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2005 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 From time to time in the ordinary course of business, we are subject to claims, asserted or unasserted, or named as a party to lawsuits or investigations.
Litigation, in general, and intellectual property and securities litigation in particular, can be expensive and disruptive to normal business operations. Moreover, the
results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with any certainty and in the case of more complex legal proceedings such as intellectual property and securities
litigation, the results are difficult to predict at all. We are not aware of any asserted or unasserted legal proceedings or claims that we believe would have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of our operations.
 

In May 2005, we paid $0.7 million to settle potential litigation in connection with a company we sold in 2003.
 

In June 2005, we filed suit against PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, or PwC, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, seeking damages, costs and fees
based on PwC’s withholding of $0.5 million paid to it in December 2004 in a matter that transferred to us when we acquired PwC’s Business Recovery Services
business in August 2002. The suit also seeks repayment of fees, costs and settlement payments made by us as co-defendants in a lawsuit.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 Issuance of Unregistered Equity Securities
 Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K dated May 31, 2005 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2, 2005.
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 None.
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 We held our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders on May 18, 2005. At the 2005 annual meeting, the stockholders voted in favor of the following three
proposals.
 1. The stockholders elected Mark H. Berey, Jack B. Dunn, IV and Gerard E. Holthaus as Class III directors for a term of three years. The stockholders voted

as follows.
 

   

For

  

Authority
Withheld

Mark H. Berey   37,798,537  1,542,130
Jack B. Dunn, IV   24,568,705  14,771,961
Gerard E. Holthaus   38,502,214  838,453

 In addition, the terms of the following directors continued after the 2005 annual meeting: Dennis J. Shaughnessy, Denis J. Callaghan, James A. Flick, Jr.,
Peter F. O’Malley and George P. Stamas.

 
2. Stockholders approved and adopted an amendment to the FTI Consulting, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, to increase the number of

shares authorized by 250,000 shares of common stock, from a total of 2,050,000 and 2,300,000 shares of our common stock. The stockholders voted as
follows.

 
For

  

Against

  

Abstain

31,351,883   2,174,535   2,496,195
 

34



Table of Contents

3. Stockholders ratified the selection of Ernst & Young, LLP as our independent auditors for the year ending December 31, 2005. The stockholders voted as
follows.

 
For

  

Against

  

Abstain

37,989,353   2,083,199   268,115
 
Item 5. Other Information
 None.
 
Item 6. Exhibits
 (a) Exhibits
 

Exhibit
Number

  

Exhibit Description

  2.1

  

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2005, by and among Cambio Health Solutions, LLC, Cambio Partners, LLC, each of the
individuals named in Exhibit A thereto that becomes a party thereto prior to the Closing (as defined therein) by executing a joinder agreement
on or after the date thereof, FTI Consulting, Inc, FTI, LLC, FTI Cambio LLC, and the Seller Representative (as defined therein).** (Filed with
the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 2.1 to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.)

   10.1 *
  

2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated effective April 27, 2005. (Filed with the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 10.1 to
FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.)

   10.2 *
  

Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan. (Filed with the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 10.2 to FTI Consulting, Inc.’s Form 8-K and
incorporated herein by reference.)

   10.3 *
  

Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement. (Filed with the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 10.3 to FTI Consulting,
Inc.’s Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.)

   10.4 *
  

Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement. (Filed with the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 10.4 to FTI
Consulting, Inc.’s Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.)

   10.5 *
  

Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan Stock Unit Agreement. (Filed with the SEC on May 24, 2005 as exhibit 10.5 to FTI Consulting,
Inc.’s Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.)

31.1
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15D-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

31.2
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15D-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** With the exception of Exhibit 7.2(h) (Form of Restricted Stock Agreement), schedules (or similar attachments) to the Asset Purchase Agreement are not

filed. We will supplementally furnish a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, upon request.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
    FTI CONSULTING, INC.

Date: July 27, 2005    By:  /s/    THEODORE I. PINCUS        
        THEODORE I. PINCUS
        Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
        (principal financial officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
 
I, Jack B. Dunn, IV, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FTI Consulting, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or causing such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: July 27, 2005
 

By:  /s/    JACK B. DUNN, IV        
 

 

Jack B. Dunn, IV
President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
 
I, Theodore I. Pincus, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FTI Consulting, Inc.;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or causing such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
 

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: July 27, 2005
 

By:  /s/    THEODORE I. PINCUS        
 

 

Theodore I. Pincus
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)



Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
 
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FTI Consulting, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jack B. Dunn, IV, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:
 
 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: July 27, 2005
 

By:  /s/    JACK B. DUNN, IV        
  Jack B. Dunn, IV
 

 
President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of FTI Consulting, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Theodore I. Pincus, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the
best of my knowledge:
 
 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: July 27, 2005
 

By:  /s/    THEODORE I. PINCUS        
  Theodore I. Pincus
 

 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


